FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
9/28/2023 4:22 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/29/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Supreme Court No. <u>102432-</u>1 (COA No. 38811-5-III)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

ELIAS LONGORIA, Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATE R. HUBER Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, WA 98101
(206) 587-2711
katehuber@washapp.org
wapofficemail@washapp.org

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Elias Longoria petitions for review of the Court of Appeals's August 29, 2023, opinion. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4).

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. An armed, uniformed officer interrogated Mr. Longoria, a Grant County Latino man, for 44 minutes without advising him of his *Miranda* rights, after ignoring Mr. Longoria's requests for an attorney and telling him if he did not talk, he would forward the matter to the prosecutor's office. In assessing whether Mr. Longoria was in custody, the Court of Appeals refused to consider Mr. Longoria's race and ethnicity as part of the totality of the circumstances and did not apply State v. Sum's objective observer analysis in evaluating whether a reasonable person would feel they were free to leave. 199 Wn.2d 627, 511 P.3d 92 (2022). Whether Sum's objective observer analysis applies to determinations of custody for Miranda purposes is a constitutional question of substantial

public interest meriting this Court's review.

- 2. A suspect may decline to talk to police without an attorney, regardless of their custodial status. Here, Mr.

 Longoria said he would "rather have a lawyer with me" and asked to "have a lawyer present." The Court of Appeals upheld the trial court's erroneous admission of statements made in violation of Mr. Longoria's right to counsel by misapplying the law regarding an invocation of counsel. This constitutional issue of substantial public interest merits this Court's review.
- 3. The prosecution impermissibly commented on Mr. Longoria's exercise of his constitutional rights by arguing in closing that the jury did not have "to worry about" whether Deputy Bushy should have honored Mr. Longoria's repeated requests for a lawyer during his interrogation and urged the juror to disregard Mr. Longoria's inquiries about an attorney. These improper comments on Mr. Longoria's rights to counsel and silence also vouched for Deputy Bushy and referred to evidence not before the jury. This misconduct deprived Mr. Longoria of a fair trial.

4. The court permitted Deputy Bushy to testify he was familiar with Mr. Longoria from 15 to 20 prior traffic stops and social contacts. The erroneous admission of this irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial prior act evidence about the large number of prior contacts Deputy Bushy had with Mr. Longoria violated Mr. Longoria's right to a fair trial. The opinion conflicts with decisions prohibiting admission of such prejudicial evidence and reinforces systemic racism because it unfairly allows the jury to consider the disproportionate police contacts that people of color experience in deciding the issue of guilt.

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Elias Longoria, a Latino man in his early-thirties, resides in Grant County. CP 128, 130, 146. Mr. Longoria had no criminal convictions but had been the subject of frequent and unwanted attention from law enforcement. Deputy Alex Bushy alone had stopped Mr. Longoria "15 to 20" times in seven years

for what he characterized as "social contacts" or "traffic stops." RP¹ 308; *see also* RP 20-25, 154-55, 172-73.

On June 6, 2019, Deputy Bushy arrived at Mr.

Longoria's yard, unannounced, armed, and in full uniform, with his marked patrol car parked in view. 3.5RP 42-105; CP 3-47;

Pretrial Exs.3, 5. Deputy Bushy was investigating two burglaries occurring on the same day at shop on Rodney Christian's property. CP 1, 7-8, 95; 3.5RP 69-70. After reviewing photos captured by a surveillance camera, Deputy Bushy thought Mr. Longoria was one of the people inside of the shop. CP 7-8; 3.5RP 69-70.

Deputy Bushy had probable cause to arrest Mr. Longoria but did not do so. 3.5RP 70, 75-76; CP 95, 97. Instead, he interrogated Mr. Longoria for 44 minutes without advising him

¹ Mr. Longoria cites "RP" to refer to volumes 1-3, pages 1-412, covering the March 2-4, 2022, trial, transcribed by court reporter Bartunek. Mr. Longoria cites "3.5RP" to refer to preand post-trial dates, including the June 17, 2021, CrR 3.5 hearing, contained in the remaining volume, pages 1-139, transcribed by court reporter Beck.

of his *Miranda* rights. 3.5RP 58; Pretrial Ex. 5. Two additional uniformed officers arrived during the interrogation, adding to the police-dominated atmosphere. CP 94-95; 3.5RP 54-58, 68.

After telling Mr. Longoria he was not under arrest,
Deputy Bushy asked Mr. Longoria if he could "ask you some questions on a case that I've been investigating," and if he was "okay with talking right now?" CP 6. Mr. Longoria replied, "Not really." CP 6. Deputy Longoria persisted. He reminded Mr. Longoria he knew him from prior police encounters. CP 7. He told Mr. Longoria he was investigating some burglaries and that cameras captured him "plain as day." CP 7-8. Deputy Bushy told him "an interview" would "go a long way to help me with your situation." CP 7-8.

Mr. Longoria was "hesitant" to answer Deputy Bushy's questions and asked, "Could I have a lawyer present?" CP 8, 95. Deputy Bushy responded he could, but said that if he wanted a lawyer and declined to talk, the case would go to court. CP 8-9.

Deputy Bushy explained he was "giving [Mr. Longoria] the opportunity right now to talk." CP 9. Bushy told Mr. Longoria, "If you want to do that [have a lawyer present]," "if you want to decline ... the interview at this point" and have a lawyer, "you can have that go for you in court." CP 9. He said that if Mr. Longoria wanted a lawyer and did not want to talk to him, then Deputy Bushy would "take the report and say, [Mr. Longoria] refused to comment regarding the investigation, said he'd rather have a lawyer with him," and he would "forward[] this report to the prosecutor's office." CP 9.

Deputy Bushy then falsely claimed Mr. Longoria was "I.D.'ed by the victims" of the burglary.² CP 9. Deputy Bushy told Mr. Longoria if he did not answer his questions, "then I'm just gonna go forward and throw it to the prosecutor's office for

² None of the victims or witnesses to the burglary ever identified Mr. Longoria. The only witness to identify Mr. Longoria was Deputy Bushy. RP 213-14, 247, 276-77, 308-09.

them to finalize all the charges and go further with it to court" and asked him what he wanted to do. CP 10.

Mr. Longoria again referenced an attorney, responding, "Well, I'd rather have a lawyer with me, I mean before I say anything. Wouldn't that be the smart thing to do?" CP 10.

Rather than honor Mr. Longoria's earlier request to "have a lawyer present" or treat Mr. Longoria's statement that "I'd rather have a lawyer with me ... before I say anything" as a request for counsel, Deputy Bushy told him it was "up to you" but immediately continued with his pointed questioning about the burglaries. CP 8, 10.

Mr. Longoria said he did not take any property but admitted he was briefly inside of the shop. CP 10-16, 19.

Deputy Bushy also questioned Mr. Longoria about items taken in unrelated burglaries from the same property and told Mr.

Longoria information about the items "goes a big way." CP 18.

Although Mr. Longoria was not involved in the unrelated, earlier burglaries of the shop, he offered to "try to figure it out"

and help locate some of the stolen items. CP 18-20, 28, 43-45.

After 44 minutes of interrogation, Deputy Bushy left. 3.5RP

58; Pretrial Ex. 5.

The State charged Mr. Longoria with two counts of burglary. The court denied Mr. Longoria's motion to suppress the June 6 statements.³ CP 94-98; 3.5RP 95-104.

At trial, Deputy Bushy was the only witness who identified Mr. Longoria as the burglar, claiming to recognize him in a surveillance picture. RP 213-14, 247, 276-77, 308-09. The interrogation video in which Mr. Longoria admitted to being inside of the shop but not taking anything was the primary evidence against him. RP 311-12. The jury convicted Mr. Longoria of trespass for one entry into the shop and burglary for a second entry. CP 124-27; RP 403-07.

³ The court suppressed statements from a second interrogation on June 29, 2019, when Deputy Bushy again questioned Mr. Longoria after detaining without cause him following a traffic stop. CP 94-98.

D. ARGUMENT

1. The court violated Mr. Longoria's privilege against self-incrimination when it admitted statements Deputy Bushy elicited during custodial interrogation without advising Mr. Longoria of his rights.

Sum recognizes that courts must consider a person's race and ethnicity as relevant to the totality of the circumstances in evaluating whether a person has been seized. It also requires courts to apply GR 37's objective observer standard in making that assessment.

The Court of Appeals refused to apply *Sum*'s reasoning to the custodial interrogation analysis and did not consider Mr. Longoria's race or ethnicity. This Court should accept review of this important constitutional question of substantial public interest.

a. Race and ethnicity are relevant considerations in any totality of the circumstances analysis.

Custodial interrogation is inherently coercive. *Miranda* v. *Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 467-68, 86 S. Ct. 1602, 16 L. Ed. 2d 694 (1966). Because of its fundamentally coercive nature, "no

government agent may interrogate someone in custody without first warning them of their right to remain silent and their right to counsel." *State v. Escalante*, 195 Wn.2d 526, 529, 461 P.3d 1183 (2020).

"A person is 'in custody' when her freedom of movement is restricted." *State v. A.M.*, 194 Wn.2d 33, 39, 448 P.3d 35 (2019). Circumstances that "'present a serious danger of coercion" are custodial. *Escalante*, 195 Wn.2d at 533 (quoting *Howes v. Fields*, 565 U.S. 499, 508-09, 132 S. Ct. 1181, 182 L. Ed. 2d 17 (2012)). The location of the interrogation is not dispositive of custody. Instead, when "a reasonable person in the suspect's position would feel restrained to the degree associated with formal arrest" they are in custody for *Miranda* purposes. *Id.* at 534. The deprivation of "freedom of action in any significant way" constitutes custody. *Miranda*, 484 U.S. at 444.

To assess custody, courts examine a totality of the relevant circumstances, including "the nature of the

surroundings, the extent of police control over the surroundings, the degree of physical restraint placed on the suspect, and the duration and character of the questioning." *Escalante*, 195 Wn.2d at 534. If "a reasonable person in the suspect's position" would not have felt "at liberty to terminate the interrogation and leave," the court must find the person was in custody. *J.D.B. v. North Carolina*, 564 U.S. 261, 270-71, 131 S. Ct. 2394, 180 L. Ed. 2d 310 (2011) (internal quotations omitted).

Courts should be required to consider a person's race and ethnicity as "one of many relevant circumstances" in the totality of the circumstances that court review to determine if a reasonable person would believe they were free to leave. *Sum*, 199 Wn.2d at 638.

In *Sum*, this Court recognized that "if, based on the totality of the circumstances, an objective observer could conclude that the person was not free to leave, to refuse a request, or to otherwise terminate the encounter due to law

enforcement's display of authority or use of physical force," that the person was seized. *Id.* at 631. Further, this Court held courts must assume this objective observer "is aware that implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in addition to purposeful discrimination, have resulted in disproportionate police contacts, investigative seizures, and uses of force against Black, Indigenous, and other People of Color (BIPOC) in Washington." *Id.*

"[I]gnor[ing] the influence of race and ethnicity in police encounters ... can no longer be justified." *Id.* at 641. Just as a person's race and ethnicity are relevant to the question of whether they have been seized, a person's race and ethnicity are relevant to the question of whether they are in custody for *Miranda* purposes. "[I]n interactions with law enforcement, race and ethnicity matter." *Id.* at 656. Therefore, race and ethnicity are among the factors courts must consider in assessing custody under the totality of the circumstances.

b. <u>Under a totality of the circumstances, Mr. Longoria</u> was in custody, and *Miranda* warning were required.

"[I]t is well known that BIPOC are wrongfully subject to excessive police scrutiny." *Sum*, 199 Wn.2d at 650. Mr. Longoria is one of the many people of color in Washington wrongfully subject to excessive police scrutiny. He is also a Latinx person in Grant County wrongfully subject to unwarranted police attention. This Court recently considered how police subjected a Latino man in Grant County to "extreme acts of violence" when he failed to succumb to a show of excessive police force for doing "nothing more than walking while high on drugs." *State v. Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d 698, 702, 719, 512 P.3d 512 (2022).

Deputy Bushy admitted that he alone had stopped Mr.

Longoria "15 to 20" times for "social contacts" or "traffic stops" in his short career with the Quincy Police Department and the Grant County Sheriff's Office. RP 20-25, 154-55, 172-73, 308. None of these encounters resulted in criminal convictions. CP 130.

Any reasonable person in Mr. Longoria's situation would not have felt free to walk away and end the encounter when Deputy Bushy interrogated him. The knowledge that "BIPOC are subject to excessive police contacts, investigative seizures, and uses of force by law enforcement" would make a reasonable person in Mr. Longoria's circumstances perceive the encounter as "more pointed and coercive." *Sum*, 199 Wn.2d at 651 (quoting *Dozier v. United States*, 220 A.3d 933, 943 (D.C. Dir. 2019)). This is particularly so, given the well-known culture of Grant County law enforcement resulting in violence towards Latino men.⁴

⁴ See David Gutman, Police Nearly Beat Him to Death. Six Years Later, He's Being Prosecuted For It. Again., Seattle Times (Apr. 2, 2023), available at https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/law-justice/police-nearly-beat-him-to-death-six-years-later-hes-being-prosecuted-for-it-again/; David Gutman, Police Nearly Beat This Washington Man To Death. Six Years Later, Will the Prosecution Against Him Continue?, Seattle Times (Aug. 28, 2023), available at https://www.seattletimes.com/seattle-news/law-justice/police-nearly-beat-this-wa-man-to-death-six-years-later-will-the-prosecution-against-him-continue/

Here, Deputy Bushy's questioning was not limited or routine, nor was the encounter of short duration, lasting 44 minutes. 3.5RP 58; Pretrial Ex. 5. Deputy Bushy questioned Mr. Longoria pointedly and accusatorily. CP 6-46, 95; 3.5RP 70-73. His questions were focused on the burglaries and were designed to elicit incriminating responses from Mr. Longoria. 3.5RP 70-73.

That the interrogation occurred in Mr. Longoria's yard does not prevent it from being custodial. *See Orozco v. Texas*, 394 U.S. 324, 326-27, 89 S. Ct. 1095, 22 L. Ed. 2d 311 (1969). Deputy Bushy was in full uniform, armed, and in a marked patrol car, joined by two additional uniformed officers. CP 95; 3.5RP 54-58, 68; Pre-trial Exs. 3, 5. Deputy Bushy immediately accused Mr. Longoria of the burglaries. CP 8. He also lied to Mr. Longoria, claiming witnesses to the burglary had identified him, to give the deceptive appearance of a stronger case. CP 9.

Deputy Bushy also repeatedly, misleadingly implied Mr. Longoria would not face charges if he talked with him. CP 8-10, 18-32, 43-46. Bushy informed Mr. Longoria the case would go to court if Mr. Longoria declined the interview and decided he would rather have a lawyer. CP 8-10, 18-32, 43-46. He insinuated it would not go to court if Mr. Longoria spoke to Bushy without a lawyer. CP 8-10. Deputy Bushy also continued to question Mr. Longoria despite his request to "have a lawyer present," his statement, "I'd rather have a lawyer with me," and his question, "Wouldn't that be the smart thing to do [have a lawyer]?" CP 8-10, 95-96.

Under the totality of the circumstances, a court must also consider race and ethnicity in determining whether a reasonable person in Mr. Longoria's circumstances would feel free to leave. Mr. Longoria would have felt his freedom of movement was constrained to a degree associated with arrest under an objective observer standard that understand the history of race, bias, and discrimination. Mr. Longoria was in custody, and

Deputy Bushy was required to give him *Miranda* warnings before interrogating him. He did not. Therefore, the court erred in admitting Mr. Longoria's statements. CP 97-98.

c. The Court of Appeals disregarded this Court's precedent when it held a coercive environment is "irrelevant" to the question of custody and refused to recognize a person's race and ethnicity are relevant to the totality of the circumstances analysis.

The Court of Appeals wrongly held the "coercive environment" in which an interrogation takes place is "irrelevant" to custody. Slip op. at 16. This directly conflicts with *Escalante*. There, this Court reaffirmed that determining custody for *Miranda* purposes requires an examination of the totality of circumstances, including the coercive nature of the environment in which the interrogation occurs. *Escalante*, 195 Wn.2d at 536.

In *Escalante*, this Court considered that agents physically separated Escalante from others, took his belongings, locked him in an isolated room, and controlled his access to food and water. *Id.* at 540-41. The court concluded those circumstances

"imposed a significant degree of physical restraint and created precisely the type of incommunicado police-dominated environment" that *Miranda* sought to address. *Id.* at 541.

Because the totality of the circumstances, including the coercive environment, demonstrated "a reasonable person in Escalante's circumstance would have felt their freedom was curtailed to the degree associated with formal arrest," the court concluded Mr. Esclante was in custody. *Id.* The Court of Appeals opinion holding that the coercive environment of an interrogation is "irrelevant" conflicts with *Esclante*. Slip. op. at 16.

The Court of Appeals also rejected Mr. Longoria's totality of the circumstances and objective observer analyses and refused to apply this Court's decision in *Sum* to the *Miranda* context. Slip op. at 17-19. It disregarded Mr. Longoria's arguments that courts should consider a person's race and ethnicity as part of the totality of the circumstances in determining if a reasonable person would have felt free to leave

and restrained to the degree associated with arrest. Slip op. at 17-19. The court reasoned that while people of color are disproportionately subjected to suspicionless police encounters, there is no reason to believe they are disproportionately subjected to custodial interviews. Slip op. at 18.

The court's refusal to consider Mr. Longoria's race and ethnicity misunderstands the totality of the circumstances analysis. Any fact may be relevant to the totality of the circumstances. Mr. Longoria's ethnicity as a Latino male in Grant County who had been subjected to 15 to 20 prior police encounters, none of which ended in criminal charges, was certainly a relevant circumstance the court should have considered. An objective observer who is aware of the biases and discrimination resulting in disproportionate police contacts, as well as Grant County's history, would conclude that the Mr. Longoria was not free to leave and that his freedom of movement was limited.

Because Mr. Longoria was in custody, *Miranda* warnings were required, and the failure to give them required suppression of his statements. This Court should accept review to address this important constitutional issue of substantial public interest and to resolve the opinion's conflict with *Sum*.

2. Even if *Miranda* warnings were not required, Mr. Longoria asked for an attorney, and Deputy Bushy violated Mr. Longoria's right to counsel by continuing the interrogation.

A suspect may invoke his rights to silence and to have a lawyer present for questioning even when he is not under arrest or in custody. *See State v. Burke*, 163 Wn.2d 204, 220-21, 181 P.3d 1 (2008). The state and federal constitutions guarantee a person the right to refuse to give the police potentially incriminating statements. U.S. Const. amend. V; Const. art. I, § 9. The right to counsel under the Fifth Amendment stems from the right against self-incrimination and is a separate right to the assistance of counsel from the Sixth Amendment. *State v. Visitacion*, 55 Wn. App. 166, 169, 776 P.2d 986 (1989). The

right to counsel "is indispensable to the protection of the Fifth Amendment privilege." *Miranda*, 384 U.S. at 469.

The privilege against self-incrimination is available in any proceeding, "civil or criminal, formal or informal."

Lefkowitz v. Turley, 414 U.S. 70, 77, 94 S. Ct. 316, 38 L. Ed. 2d 274 (1973). A person may invoke the privilege, either through silence or a request for counsel, against any question posing a real and substantial threat of incrimination, in that the answer may "furnish a link in the chain of evidence needed to prosecute." State v. Hobble, 126 Wn.2d 283, 290, 892 P.2d 85 (1995) (internal quotation omitted).

Miranda requires warnings of these rights before police engage in custodial interrogation, and the failure of police to warn people of these rights is grounds to suppress the statement. But that is not the only manner in which these rights can be asserted. A person may assert their rights to counsel and silence even if they are not in custody. State v. Easter, 130 Wn.2d 228, 238, 922 P.2d 1285 (1996). That the court found

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