FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/27/2023 3:46 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No: 1024321

No. 38811-5-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

ELIAS JOSEPH LONGORIA,

Appellant.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KEVIN J. McCRAE Prosecuting Attorney WSBA #43087

PO BOX 37 EPHRATA WA 98823 (509)754-2011

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

Sum, in essence, requires the reviewing court so ask "how would a reasonable BIPOC person view the circumstances of seizure differently than a white person?" Sum applied the stereotype that BIPOC people are subject to heightened police scrutiny, and thus more likely to feel seized under certain circumstance. Sum, 199 Wn.2d at 647. The critical question for Miranda purposes is not simply whether the person is seized, but whether the person is in custody associated with formal arrest. Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420, 440, 104 S. Ct. 3138, 3150, 82 L. Ed. 2d 317 (1984). Formal arrest

typically has certain characteristics associated with it, such as being placed in handcuffs, the officer telling the person they are under arrest, being placed in the back of a police car and/or being taken to a police station or jail. The State is unaware of any stereotype, and Mr. Longoria does not produce any evidence of one, that BIPOC people define and view formal arrest and its attendant characteristics differently than non BIPOC people. That is not to say it does not exist, or it could not be relevant under certain circumstances, but Mr. Longoria has made no showing or argument about the situation here, or in the trial court where facts might need to be developed.

Mr. Longoria treats the *Sum* analysis as bonus points.

BIPOC people should get some vague and indeterminate amount of extra credit in the formal custody analysis. But that is not what *Sum* said. "The weight that should be given to the allegedly seized person's race and ethnicity will vary between cases based on the evidence presented, but the State cites no Washington authority holding that any objective circumstance

is presumptively irrelevant to the seizure inquiry." State v. Sum, 199 Wn.2d at 647 (2022). Mr. Longoria does not provide sufficient evidence or argument to determine what weight to give ethnicity, or for the State to respond to that argument.

D. The alleged conditions in Grant County cited by Mr. Longoria are both irrelevant and wrong.

1. The conditions are irrelevant to the analysis.

Mr. Longoria cites *State v. Zamora*, 199 Wn.2d 698, 701, 512 P.3d 512, 515 (2022), and Seattle Times articles regarding the case to demonstrate conditions in Grant County must be horrible for BIPOC people. However, "the relevance of race and ethnicity in the seizure inquiry cannot turn on whether there has been recent, well-publicized discrimination and violence by law enforcement directed at individuals of the same race or ethnicity as the allegedly seized person." *State v. Sum*, 199 Wn.2d at 644. In addition, the determination of whether someone is in custody consistent with formal arrest is an objective one. "(T)he initial determination of custody depends

on the objective circumstances of the interrogation, not on the subjective views harbored by either the interrogating officers or the person being questioned. Courts must examine "all of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation" and determine how a reasonable person in the position of the individual being questioned would gauge the breadth of his or her freedom of action." Yarborough v. Alvarado, 541 U.S. 652, 663, 124 S. Ct. 2140, 2148–49, 158 L. Ed. 2d 938 (2004). However, the more individualized circumstances are brought into the analysis, the more subjective the analysis becomes. See State v. Westwood, 100570-9, 2023 WL 5762260, at *5 (Wash. Sept. 7, 2023). For instance, a defendant's experience with police and Miranda warnings may well be a relevant factor that is able to be objectively determined but does not factor into the in custody analysis. Alvarado, 541 U.S. at 667.

If individual County circumstances are to be taken into account, does that mean that "in custody" means something different in Grant County than it does in Pierce, Clallam or

Asotin Counties? How far down does that go? Moses Lake, where the incident with Mr. Zamora occurred, is about 40 minutes driving time from Quincy, where Mr. Longoria and Deputy Bushy talked. That is approximately the same distance as Olympia to Fife. Does the term have different meanings in different cities, neighborhoods or even blocks? How much knowledge of local circumstances is imputed to the hypothetical reasonable individual? It is doubtful that Mr. Longoria had ever heard of Mr. Zamora at the time he talked to Deputy Bushy, and there is certainly no evidence of it. Mr. Longoria's argument about what has happened in Grant County is irrelevant to the in custody inquiry and would turn the question from an objective to a subjective one.

2. The facts cited are simply wrong.

Mr. Longoria cites to this Court's opinion in *Zamora* and newspaper articles primarily citing the Supreme Court case and interviews with Mr. Zamora for his facts. None of these "facts"

have been tested in an adversarial proceeding before a competent fact finder. The Court must disregard them.

26 years ago, this court decided State v. Valentine, 132 Wn.2d 1, 3, 935 P.2d 1294, 1294 (1997). The primary issue in Valentine was whether an unlawful arrest that would only result in loss of freedom could be resisted with force. At the Supreme Court, Mr. Valentine raised the issue that the conduct of the arresting officer was so outrageous as to violate the right to due process. The Court refused to consider the issue for the first time on appeal because it would have to weigh the credibility of the officers versus the credibility of Mr. Valentine, and the factfinder was not requested to consider the claim. *Id.* at 23-24. The Court held that "in the absence of findings of fact or undisputed facts showing outrageous conduct by the Spokane police officers, we cannot say that their conduct was violate of due process. Consequently, we are unwilling to direct dismissal of the third degree assault charge against Valentine." Id at 24.

Fast forward to 2023. This Supreme Court unanimously rebuked Division 3 of the Court of Appeals for raising issues not presented to it and finding facts to support its conclusions that were irrelevant to the issues presented by the parties.

Dalton M, LLC v. N. Cascade Tr. Servs., Inc., 534 P.3d 339, 342 (Wash. 2023). The Court held:

This decision violates both the Rules of Appellate Procedure (RAPs) and our controlling precedent. Under both sources of law, an appellate court may raise a new issue sua sponte if it is necessary to resolve the questions presented; an appellate court may not raise a new issue sua sponte if it is separate and distinct from the questions presented and unnecessary to resolve those questions especially when the new "issue" is more like a whole new unpleaded claim depending on factual allegations that were never presented in or proved to the trial court. The Court of Appeals violated, these rules: it sua sponte raised a new issue that is more like an unpleaded claim, that new issue was distinct from issues or theories raised before. resolution of that new issue was not necessary to resolve the questions presented about the claims actually pleaded, and resolution of that new issue depended on facts that the parties never had a chance to develop at trial.

Id. at 343. The Court also noted how raising and deciding issues without notice to the parties denies due process.Id. at 347

In Zamora the Court limited its review to two issues, prosecutorial misconduct and the admissibility of the fact of a use of force investigation by the police agency. State v. Zamora, 198 Wn.2d 1017 (2021). The Court did not reach the use of force investigation issue. The facts cited by Mr. Longoria were completely irrelevant to the issues the Court granted review on in Zamora. Mr. Longoria discusses how Mr. Zamora was subject to extreme acts of violence for doing nothing more that walking while high on drugs. Petition for review at 13. He cites to two Seattle Times articles for the proposition of a well-known culture in Grant County Law enforcement resulting in violence towards Latino men. Id. At 14. He also alleges "discrimination resulting in disproportionate police contacts, as well as Grant County's history." *Id* at 19.

None of these facts were litigated in either Mr. Zamora's case or Mr. Longoria's. While the State could not prove beyond a reasonable doubt with admissible evidence Mr. Zamora was prowling vehicles, that is a far cry from affirmatively establishing he was merely walking while high on drugs. In fact, given his history of very similar actions, a history that is not in the record of either Mr. Zamora's case or Mr. Longoria's because the issue was never raised in the trial court in either case, Mr. Zamora was, to a more likely than not standard, trying to get into people's cars.² This fact, of course, was also never argued because it was irrelevant to the issues the Court actually granted review on, or any issue the Court

² There are many other debatable "facts" from the *Zamora* opinion and the newspaper articles. The State does not mean to imply the facts mentioned are the only ones.

of Appeals reviewed, or any issues raised at the trial court. How extreme the violence was as Mr. Zamora, super fueled by methamphetamine, tried to pull his knife on the officer was also a fact never litigated in any court.

Nor is there any evidence of a culture of disproportionate police contacts in Grant County. The only thing the Court reviewed in Zamora was the elected prosecutor's comments during voir dire. To the undersigned's knowledge no deputy prosecutor ever adopted the prior elected prosecutor's approach to voir dire in this respect, and no law enforcement officer had anything to do with it, which would contradict the whole idea of a cultural norm. Of course, that also is not in the record in Mr. Longoria's case or Mr. Zamora's because the issue was never raised in the trial court. Nor were the circumstances of Deputy Bushy's other contacts with Mr. Longoria, including who else was there, the reasons behind them or any other details of the encounters.

This Court followed a policy of judicial restraint in Valentine. It reaffirmed that policy in Dalton MLLC. It should continue with a restrained policy. One sided yellow journalism and court opinions that create facts that were never subject to an adversarial proceeding and were not relevant to the issues raised create impressions of conflict and problems that may not actually exist or exacerbate problems that do.

Courts have a deliberative system for finding facts for a reason. It should not be short circuited.

- E. Mr. Longoria did not unequivocally invoke his right to counsel. Even if he did, because he was not in custody Deputy Bushy was not obligated to stop the conversation.
 - 1. Mr. Longoria did not unequivocally invoke his right to counsel.

The State briefed this issue in its brief to the Court of Appeals and the Court of Appeals considered this issue. Mr. Longoria does not point to any conflicting cases or important

issues of law on this issue, so the State will rest on its previous briefing. RAP 13.4(b).

2. Assuming, arguendo, that Mr. Longoria did unequivocally invoke his right to counsel, Deputy Bushy was not obligated to stop the conversation.

The protections of *Miranda* do not apply when the suspect is not in custody. "If the defendant is not in custody then *Miranda* and its progeny do not apply." *Bobby v. Dixon*, 565 U.S. 23, 28, 132 S. Ct. 26, 29, 181 L. Ed. 2d 328 (2011). "If a suspect requests counsel but is not in custody, the police may continue to question the suspect." *State v. Bartelt*, 375 Wis. 2d 148, 164, 895 N.W.2d 86, 93 (Wis. Ct. App. 2017), *aff'd*, 379 Wis. 2d 588, 906 N.W.2d 684 (2018). Because Mr. Longoria was not in custody, Deputy Bushy was not obligated to stop the conversation when Mr. Longoria asked about an attorney. Even if the request was unequivocal, *Miranda* protections do not apply. Deputy Bushy was free to

keep asking questions, and Mr. Longoria was free to not answer and walk away or tell Deputy Bushy to leave.

F. The prosecutor properly used the jury instructions to clarify to the jury how to deal with the discussion of an attorney the defendant placed into evidence.

Rather than agree to the State's redaction of the body camera video or offer his own redaction Mr. Longoria insisted on placing the entire interview video in front of the jury. The prosecutor is not silenced from discussing how the jury should treat that evidence in the context of the jury instructions because it happened to involve discussion of an attorney. The Prosecutor clearly referenced the jury instructions that the judge had made a legal ruling, so the jury would not try to apply its lay understanding of *Miranda* warnings. As the Court of Appeals held, this was proper. Again, there is no demonstration of conflicting cases or significant issue of law. This issue is discussed in more detail in the State's brief in the Court of Appeals and the prior opinion.

G. Mr. Longoria's identity and how Deputy Bushy recognized him were highly relevant.

Mr. Longoria's arguments here are logically inconsistent. He argues that the number of contacts Deputy Bushy had with him are evidence of over policing of BIPOC persons presented to the jury, but that the number of contacts were inherently prejudicial showing he was a bad person. If the jury was to take them as evidence of over policing, they would be evidence that the police were picking in Mr. Longoria unjustly, and thus likely to be wrong in their assessment of what happened in the case, and he was not a bad person, but picked on by the police. Thus the argument that these contacts were evidence of over policing presented to the jury would actually help Mr. Longoria, if the jury accepted that premise.

Mr. Longoria's contacts with Deputy Bushy were relevant to identification. For the first time on appeal Mr. Longoria claims that identity was not an issue. But that was never conceded at trial. Deputy Bushy recognized Mr.

Longoria from the video of the incident by a distinctive mole on his face. Given this somewhat tenuous identification Deputy Bushy's familiarity with Mr. Longoria was important to the credibility of Deputy Bushy's identification. Why and how Deputy Bushy was familiar with Mr. Longoria was critical to the jury's evaluation of how he recognized Mr. Longoria as being the person in the video.

In addition, any error was clearly harmless. "Where the error is *not* of constitutional magnitude, we apply the rule that error is not prejudicial unless, within reasonable probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected." *State v. Barry*, 183 Wn.2d 297, 303, 352 P.3d 161, 165 (2015). The jury convicted Mr. Longoria of what he confessed to, not what the State alleged, given the conviction on the lesser charge of trespass. The jury was not inappropriately swayed by the evidence.

//

VI. CONCLUSION

Race/ethnicity may be a factor in determining if someone is in custody for purposes of Miranda, the Court of Appeals did not hold otherwise. However, the analysis must be more than the person has a last name that originates on the Iberian Peninsula, therefore the circumstances indicate custodial arrest. Mr. Longoria does not point to any circumstances that would indicate a person like Mr. Longoria would consider himself in custody any more than anyone else. Mr. Longoria was clearly informed he was not in custody, and there was no evidence that any reasonable person would conclude Deputy Bushy was not truthful when he told Mr. Longoria that. Mr. Longoria did not unambiguously ask for an attorney, and even if he did Deputy Bushy was not obligated to stop the conversation. The . prosecutor is not prohibited from placing evidence the defense insisted on introducing in its proper context of the jury instructions. The reason Deputy Bushy recognized Mr. Longoria was relevant to an issue at trial, specifically who the

person in the video was. If it was error to introduce such evidence, the error was harmless. There are no conflicting cases or issues of law or significate issues that call for Supreme Court review. The petition should be denied. RAP 13.4(b).

This document contains 4997 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.